1949

Othello Hickman v. Union Pacific Railroad Company : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Appellant, referred to hereafter as plaintiff, sued respondent, who will be referred to hereafter as defendant, to recover damages for injuries which he sustained in an automobile-train accident. The trial of the cause in the court below resulted in a verdict and judgment in defendant's favor, and plaintiff has brought this appeal to secure a reversal of said judgment.

The accident occurred on October 30th, 1947, at about 6:45 p. m. (Tr. 139), on U. S. Highway 91, at a point approximately two miles southwesterly from Logan, Utah, where a spur track of defendant crosses said highway. (Tr. 187, 227). The said highway at the scene of the accident runs in a general northeasterly direction toward Logan, and the spur track crosses the highway at grade and at near right angles. (Tr. 112). The highway is paved with concrete and is level; with two traffic lanes each 11 feet wide, (Tr. 112).

There is a railroad sign commonly referred to as cross-bucks, on the east side of the pavement and south of the tracks. The defendant did not maintain any wig-wag flashers at said crossing, nor were any flares or other lights placed on the highway to warn motorists that said crossing was being used. There was no light placed upon any of the railroad cars as they approached the crossing. (Tr. 192.)

The spur track extends southeasterly; from the highway for about a half-mile to the main line, and it is not in regular use. It is used principally during the fall of the year to transport sugar beets from a storage pile located on the sugar factory site on the west side of the highway. At the time of the accident the defendant was pushing about 8 empty sugar beet cars ahead of the engine which was operating in reverse.

On the date of accident, plaintiff and Melvin Squires, a business associate, were returning to Logan in the plaintiff's car. (Tr. 225, 226). As they approached a point on said highway about three-tenths of a mile south of the spur track they passed a highway patrolman's car parked on the west side of the highway facing south. Plaintiff and Squires both observed the insignia on the patrolman's car and the plaintiff then observed his speedometer to ascertain if he was within the speed limit, and found the indicator showed that plaintiff's car was then traveling between 45 and 50 miles per hour. (Tr. 227, 228).

After plaintiff's car passed the patrolman's car the latter turned around and proceeded northerly, following

about two-tenths of a mile behind plaintiff's car. (Tr. 153). The highway patrolman, Roland Reese, testified that the plaintiff's car was traveling at a normal rate of speed at the time it passed him and he estimated that the car was traveling between 45 and 50 miles per hour. (Tr. 154).

The plaintiff proceeded northerly along said highway at the same speed until he reached a point a short distance south of the spur track when Squires said, "There comes a train on the highway," and the plaintiff immediately applied the brakes, and, as he testified, "As I applied my brakes, then I saw the car coming on to the highway. I had not seen the car until Mr. Squires yelled at me; and I pushed my brake with all the force I could, and I could see we were going to hit something." (Tr. 228). All four wheels skidded for a distance of 85 feet before colliding with the train. (Tr. 166) The plaintiff's car collided with the first railroad car entering the highway at the rear of its front trucks, and before the train came to a complete stop the front end of plaintiff's car was pulled to the left and into the west lane on the highway, (See Plaintiff's Exhibit B.) The brakes and light on plaintiff's car were in good condition.

The first car approaching from the opposite direction was operated by Mrs. Afton Archibald of Wellsville, and as she reached the bridge over Blacksmith Fork River, which is about 500 feet North of the spur track crossing, (Tr. 188) she could see someone with what she took to be a flashlight, waving said light up and down in front of him. He was standing on the west side of the pavement facing in her direction. She then saw the plaintiff's car

coming from the opposite direction. She slowed down but didn't stop. When she approached to within about 40 feet of the crossing (Tr. 189) she observed the railroad car suddenly appear in front of her on the crossing, and she "slammed" on the brakes. She then heard the screeching of the brakes on the plaintiff's car and immediately thereafter the crash. There was no light on the train, and just before the impact the man with the flashlight turned and ran across to the south side of the spur track. (Tr. 190) She definitely heard the screeching of the brakes on plaintiff's car. (Tr. 190½) At the time of the impact the railroad car was not half-way across the concrete pavement, and it moved after the impact so that she had to drive off the pavement on the west side and momentarily stopped. (Tr. 191). Mrs. Archibald testified that she did not observe the engine, nor did she hear the engine whistle or the ringing of the bell. Neither did she observe any light on the train nor any flares or lights at any place on the highway. (Tr. 192).

Officer Reese testified — "There were no lights, that it was an awful dark night, and that the moon had not come up." As Reese drove up to the scene of the accident, he saw no lights on the railroad car nor on the highway at the crossing. (Tr. 157, 158) As he drove along behind plaintiff prior to the accident, and as he approached the crossing he did not hear the train whistle nor did he hear the bell ringing or hear any siren. (Tr. 158).

ASSIGNMENT OF ERRORS

Comes now the plaintiff and appellant, and assigns the following errors upon which he relies for a reversal of the verdict and judgment entered thereon:

1. The court erred in admitting, over plaintiff's objection, defendant's Exhibits 2, 3, 4, 5, and 6. (Tr. 132-134.)

2. The court erred in denying the following motion made by plaintiff: "MR. CARTER: If the Court please, I move that these photographs be stricken from the record. There is no showing as to when they were made, or the conditions under which they were taken. Conditions have changed. One of the witnesses testified that at the time of the accident the brush was high. Here it shows it ~~perfectly~~ ^{purposely} flat. THE COURT: The motion is denied." (Tr. 384).

3. The court erred in giving the last portion of instruction No. 7, viz.; "and the railroad company's employees have a right to presume that motorists on the highway will drive with their cars under such control as to be able to stop within the distance at which they can see objects ahead." (Tr. 23).

4. The court erred in giving the last sentence of instruction No 9, viz.; "After the cars of such a train are upon and occupying or passing over a highway the presence of such train or cars lawfully upon such highway is a sufficient warning to approaching travelers and such travelers on the highway are bound to see such train of cars on the highway in time to stop and to avoid colliding therewith." (Tr. 24).

5. The court erred in giving instruction No. 18. (Tr. 27, 28.)

6. The court erred in its refusal to give plaintiff's requested instruction No. 1. (Tr. 40).

7. The court erred in denying the plaintiff's motion for a new trial. (Tr. 99).

ARGUMENT AND AUTHORITIES

I

The court erred (Assignment No. 1), in admitting over plaintiff's objection defendant's Exhibits 2, 3, 4, 5, and 6. (Tr. 132-134.) And the court also erred, (Assignment No. 2) in denying plaintiff's motion to strike said exhibits (Tr. 384.) These exhibits were offered and admitted in evidence (Tr. 132-124) on the cross examination of plaintiff's witness Benny Degn, a photographer, who had been called by plaintiff to lay the foundation for the admission of plaintiff's Exhibits B. C. D., and E (Tr. 120-123.) Plaintiff's objection to the admission of defendants exhibits, 2, 3, 4, 5, and 6 was based upon the ground that no proper foundation had been laid and that it was not proper cross examination. (Tr. 134). And plaintiff's motion to strike said exhibits (Tr. 384) was made when it appeared that defendant had failed to offer any evidence to show when the pictures were taken, or whether the conditions and circumstances were the same when said pictures were taken as they were when the accident occurred.

The plaintiff submits that as a matter of orderly procedure a party should offer his evidence in his own time and not poach upon the rights of the party who is then introducing his side of the case. If a defendant may be permitted to offer his evidence upon the cross examination of plaintiff's witness, then the rule could be enlarged to

the point where defendant would be presenting his case simultaneously, and at the same time that plaintiff presents his case.

If defendant's Exhibits 2, 3, 4, 5, and 6 were taken in the spring of 1948, then the conditions would be changed to the extent that they would not present the true condition that existed on the date of the accident. If the individual who had taken these pictures had been produced, the plaintiff could have cross-examined him as to the time, weather conditions, etc., and if it had been determined that the pictures were taken the following spring, then they would be subject to the objection that they were taken at a time too remote and after conditions surrounding the scene of the accident had changed. In order for a picture to have any definite value as evidence, it must be taken so near the time of the accident that it will reproduce the actual condition prevailing at the time of the accident.

We earnestly submit that the court committed reversible error in admitting said exhibits on the showing made, under the following authorities and cases:

In Goldstein's Trial Technique, at page 328, section 396, under the heading of admissibility, the author states the rule, as follows:

"However, if the conditions between the conditions at the time of the accident and the time when the photograph was taken is of such a nature that the result of the trial would probably be different if the conditions as they formerly existed were shown,

the photograph is not admissible. Where the view at a railroad passing was obstructed by vegetation at the time of the injury and the vegetation had all been removed at the time of the photograph, it was held that the photograph was not a correct representation and was not admissible. (citing *Althoff vs. I. C. R. Co.*, 227 Ill. 417.)

In 30 Am. Jur. 611, Section 731, the rule is laid down:

The situation and surrounding circumstances of the taking of a picture are subject to change, a photograph to be admissible, must have been taken at the time of the transaction or before the situation and circumstances have undergone change. In many instances photographs have been held inadmissible on the ground that they were taken at a time too remote and when conditions had changed." (The following cases are cited to support the above rule.)

Chicago etc., R. R. Co., vs. Crose, 73 N. E. 865, where the Supreme Court of Illinois held:

"When the situation and surrounding circumstances are subject to change, photographs, to be of any value as evidence, must be shown to have been taken at the time or when the situation and surroundings are unchanged."

In *Surratt vs. Robinson*, (Md.) 135 Alt. 838, 50 A.L.R. 280, the court said:

"The second exception was taken to the action of the trial court in permitting a photograph of the place where the accident occurred to be offered in evi-

dence. As has been stated the accident occurred on October 15, 1925, between 8 and 9 o'clock in the morning, and the case was tried in the following March. The photograph was taken by counsel in the case, in the afternoon after the adjournment of court pending the trial. From the testimony it appeared that the conditions of the foliage, shrubbery, and lighting were different at the time of the accident than when the photograph was taken, and the photograph itself was obscure and indefinite in its details, and it should not have been admitted in evidence."

II

The court erred (Assignment of error No. 3) in giving the following instruction to the jury, "And the railroad company's employees have a right to presume that motorists on the highway will drive with their cars under such control as to be able to stop within the distance at which they can see objects ahead." (Instruction No. 7, Tr. 23).

The court also erred in giving the following instruction (Assignment of Error No. 4) "After the cars of such train are upon and occupying or passing over a highway the presence of such train or cars lawfully upon such highway is a sufficient warning to approaching travelers and such travelers on the highway are bound to see such train of cars on the highway in time to stop and to avoid colliding therewith." (Instruction No. 9, Tr. 24).

The foregoing instructions when read together, assume that the train was on the crossing all the time while the plaintiff was a sufficient distance away from the cross-

ing to have looked and stopped before colliding with the defendant's train. They also assume that the railroad cars were lawfully upon the highway. This is assuming the important fact that is in issue.

Plaintiff submits that it was prejudicial error to give these instruction since there is no evidence in the record that defendant's train was occupying or passing over the highway before plaintiff applied his brakes. The evidence of witnesses testifying for the plaintiff and defendant is, that when the plaintiff applied his brakes the first car of the train was then only entering upon the highway. (Tr. 228, 189, 319). The plaintiff testified that — "Just a little way before we got to the track, my companion, Mr. Squires, yelled to me: 'There comes a train on the highway.' xxx, I immediately applied my brakes, xxx. As I applied my brakes, then I saw the car coming on to the highway." (Tr. 228).

Mrs. Archibald testified that as she approached the crossing from the north, and when only about 40 feet from the same that — "Then it seemed like all of a sudden this railroad car loomed up in front of me. I slammed on my brakes and I heard the screeching of the brakes on the plaintiff's car and the crash." (Tr. 189, 190). She further testified that at the time of the collision the front end of the railroad car was not half-way across the highway. (Tr. 191.)

The defendant's witness Squires testified, (Tr. 319) that he observed a train of cars coming out onto the highway. He saw the cars in the field first, and then he

observed the first car entering the highway, "about eight feet over." At that time he hollered, "There is a train," (Tr. 320) and Plaintiff's Exhibit "B" plainly reveals the fact that plaintiff's car collided with the front end of the railroad car in the east lane of traffic, and the railroad car then moved forward until the front end thereof reached the west side of the pavement, dragging the front end of plaintiff's car with it. These facts are plainly illustrated by Plaintiff's Exhibits B, C, D, and E.

This evidence definitely shows that the train was approaching the highway when the plaintiff, Squires and Mrs. Archibald first saw it. At that instant the plaintiff's car was too close to the crossing to stop before colliding with the train. (Earle v. Salt Lake & Utah R. Corp. 165 P. 2d. 877.)

We earnestly submit that the Court invaded the province of the jury and also misled them by giving these erroneous instructions.

This court has held repeatedly that it is prejudicial error to give an instruction on an issue not supported by competent evidence. Davis v. Midvale City, 56 Utah 1, 189 Pac. 74; Shields v. Utah Light & Traction Company 105 P. 2d. 347; and Griffin v. Prudential Ins. Co. 133 P. 2d. 333.

In the case of Davis v. Midvale City, supra, this court relied upon and quoted the general rule as laid down in 38 Cyc. 1612, 1613, as follows:

"It is improper to give an instruction announcing a naked legal proposition, however correct it may be,

unless it bears upon and is connected with the issues involved; and unless, further, there has been received some competent evidence to which the jury may apply it. Such an instruction tends to distract the minds of the jury from the real question submitted to them for determination, and thereby mislead them, and, if requested, may be properly refused.”

The same rule is recognized and adhered to in *Shields v. Utah Light & Traction Company*, supra, where the judgment of the trial court was reversed and one of the grounds for reversal resulted because the trial court gave an instruction on an element of damage which was pleaded, but there was no evidence adduced at the trial to support it.

And in *Griffin v. Prudential Ins. Co.*, supra, the same rule is reiterated in the 8th head note which reads:

“It is error to give instructions on a state of facts which there is no evidence tending to prove, or which undisputed evidence shows did not exist, even should such instructions contain correct statements of law.”

The holding of this court in the foregoing cases is well supported by the courts in other jurisdictions. We take the liberty of citing some recent cases from other states:

Hancock et.al. v. Myers et.al. (Okla.) 176 P. 2d 820.

Magnolia Petroleum v. Galloway (Okla.) 83 P. 2d. 174.

Tosto v. City of Seattle et. al. (Wash.) 171 P. 2d. 194.

Lubliner v. Ruge (Wash.) 153 P. 2d. 694.

Garrison v. Trowbridge (Mont.) 177 P. 2d. 464.

Krupp v. Los Angeles Ry. Corporation (Cal.) 135 P. 2d. 424.

Clarke v. Volpa Bros. (Cal.) 124 P. 2d. 377.

Hyman v. Market Ry. Co. (Cal.) 107 P. 2d. 485.

Gregg v. McDonald (Cal.) 239 Pac. 373.

In the Oklahoma case of Hancock et.al. v. Myers. et.al. supra, the Court held:

“The second ground of error is well taken. No evidence was introduced touching the rental value of the premises or of damage suffered by plaintiffs by reason of defendants’ possession thereof. Such being true, the submission of such issue to the jury was error.”

In the case of Magnolia Petroleum v. Galloway, supra, the Supreme Court of Oklahoma held that it was prejudicial error for the trial court to give an instruction to the jury which was not supported by the evidence and, in arriving at this conclusion, the Court said:

Defendant contends that it was error for the court to submit to the jury instructions concerning gasoline which ‘had not been tested’ because the evidence does not show the defendant sold ‘untested’ gasoline. An examination of the record discloses that it is neither alleged in the pleadings nor shown by the evidence that the defendants sold gasoline to the plaintiffs which had not been tested. The above instructions would permit the jury to find for the plain-

tiffs because the defendants furnished untested gasoline. This was error. In *White v. Oliver*, 32 Okl. 479, 122 P. 156 par. 5, of the syllabus, reads: 'It is error to give an instruction, presenting to the jury a theory of the case, when there is no evidence to support the theory.' "

In the case of *Tosto v. City of Seattle*, *supra*, held that it was prejudicial error to give an instruction on the last clear chance doctrine — "Where the facts do not justify it."

And the Supreme Court of Washington, in *Lubliner v. Ruge*, *supra*, reversed a judgment in favor of defendant, because one of the instructions stated that the defendant had a right to assume certain rights in crossing the intersection where the accident occurred. In holding that the instruction was incorrect, the court said:

"This instruction was incorrect from two standpoints: It relieved the driver of the car of the duty to anticipate that the red light might turn against him and to so regulate his speed as to be able to avoid entering the intersection against it, and it cast upon the appellant the duty to look for the approach of the car and to give it the right of way even though he had the green light in his favor when he entered the intersection."

And in the Montana case, *Garrison v. Trowbridge*, 177 P. 2d. 464, at page 467, the Court said:

"Furthermore, the court erred in giving instruction No. 15 reading: 'You are instructed that all traffic, including pedestrians, must, when they approach

an intersection of a city street in the City of Great Falls, and Scond Avenue North, the same being a through street, stop and look before entering such intersection for the purpose of crossing the avenue.' To the giving of that instruction plaintiff objected upon the ground 'that there was a complete lack of any evidence in the case upon which the giving of such an instruction can be predicated.' The objection to the instruction should have been sustained. There was no evidence showing that deceased did not stop before entering the intersection. It is not proper to give an instruction on an issue concerning which there is no evidence. (53 Am. Jur. 455.)

In the case of *Krupp v. Los Angeles Ry. Corporation*, the appellate court reversed a judgment in defendant's favor and, in so holding, the court said:

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