1949

Othello Hickman v. Union Pacific Railroad Company : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

ARGUMENT

At the outset, we wish to call to the attention of the court and counsel the rule that on such an appeal as this, where a matter has been submitted to a jury, the verdict of the jury must be sustained if there is any competent evidence in the record to sustain it, and in order to find that evidence we are not bound to take—as plaintiff and appellant has done—merely evidence favorable to plaintiff or produced by his witnesses, but must take all of the evidence whether from plaintiff's witnesses on either direct or cross-examination, or from defendant's witnesses on direct or

cross-examination, or from other testimony, including photographs and other evidence such as the map, Exhibit 1, and the weather report, Exhibit 9. The rule is rather uniformly and universally recognized and is well stated in the case of *Crawford v. Southern Pacific Co.*, 45 P. 2d 183, 184, where the California Appellant Court stated:

“In reviewing the evidence on such an appeal, all conflicts must be resolved in favor of the respondent, and all legitimate and reasonable inferences indulged in to uphold the verdict if possible. It is an elementary, but often overlooked, principle of law, that when a verdict is attacked as being unsupported, the power of the appellate court begins and ends with a determination as to whether there is any substantial evidence, contradicted or uncontradicted, which will support the conclusion reached by the jury. When two or more inferences can be reasonably deduced from the facts, the reviewing court is without power to substitute its deductions for those of the trial court.”

The following cases confirm the application of the foregoing rule within the State of Utah:

Horsley v. Robinson, . . . Utah . . ., 186 P. 2d 592.

Ercanbrack v. Ellison, 103 Utah 138, 134 P. 2d 177.

Jensen v. Logan City, 96 Utah 53, 83 P. 2d 311.

Lym v. Thompson, . . . Utah . . ., 184 P. 2d 667.

Sine v. Salt Lake Transportation Co., 106 Utah 289, 147 P. 2d 875.

Appellant uses a considerable portion of his brief arguing with respect to what the defendant should have done under its common law duty and whether it should have put

out flares or other lights. He overlooks the fact that even if it had been determined that the defendant was negligent, still the jury may have determined that the plaintiff was guilty of contributory negligence and may have held as they did on that account. We have no way of knowing now whether the jury determined that both plaintiff and defendant were negligent or whether the jury concluded that plaintiff alone was negligent. The appellant in his brief did not say very much upon the question as to whether or not the facts in the record would sustain a finding of contributory negligence on the part of the plaintiff, even on the basis of an assumption that defendant was negligent.

In examining the evidence in this case to see if there is any substantial competent evidence to sustain the jury's verdict, there are a few definite physical facts which, when applied to other evidence, compel the unescapable conclusion that regardless of whether or not the defendant was negligent in any respect, the plaintiff was nevertheless guilty of contributory negligence.

The Utah statutes in force at the time of this accident provided:

“57-7-113. Restrictions as to Speed—Reasonable Under Conditions—Maximums.

“(a) No person shall drive a vehicle on a highway at a speed greater than is reasonable and prudent under the conditions and having regard to the actual and potential hazards then existing. In every event speed shall be so controlled as may be necessary to avoid colliding with any person, vehicle, or other conveyance on or entering the highway in compliance with legal requirements and the duty of all

persons to use due care.

“* * *

“(c) The driver of every vehicle shall, consistent with the requirements of subdivision (a) of this section, drive at an appropriate reduced speed when approaching and crossing an intersection or railway grade crossing, when approaching and going around a curve, when approaching a hill crest, when traveling upon any narrow or winding roadway, and when special hazard exists with respect to pedestrians or other traffic or by reason of weather or highway conditions.”

These provisions of statute apply whether the vehicle is being operated in the daytime or the nighttime, and by such statute a driver who is approaching a railway grade crossing is put in the same class as one approaching an intersection or one approaching and going around a curve or a hill crest, and in spite of the State maximum speed limits, the law requires such a driver to drive at “an appropriate reduced speed” at such times and places.

Section 57-7-179, Utah Code Annotated, 1943, sets forth lighting equipment required on vehicles on the highway “at any time from a half hour after sunset to a half hour before sunrise.” In the Uniform Act Regulating Traffic on Highways when it was enacted in 1941, this section with respect to lights after sunset and before sunrise was designated as Section 102. Section 57-7-197, Utah Code Annotated, 1943, referring thereto, provides in part:

“(a) Whenever a motor vehicle is being operated on a roadway or shoulder adjacent thereto during the time specified in Section 102, the driver shall use a distribution of light, or composite beam, directed high enough and of sufficient intensity to

reveal persons and vehicles at a safe distance in advance of the vehicle, subject to the following requirement and limitations:”

Then follows the provision that when a vehicle approaches within 500 feet of another vehicle, the lights should be dimmed by the driver.

In the case at bar the plaintiff Hickman testified that when he passed the highway patrolman, who was at least three-tenths of a mile from the crossing in question—or something in excess of 1500 feet—he dimmed his lights. He continued to drive toward the crossing without reducing his speed in any manner whatsoever, and according to his testimony, he continued just under the limit of 50 miles an hour (Tr. 282, 286). He had seen Mrs. Archibald’s car coming, and she was at least as far away from the crossing as he was at the time he passed the officer because both were going at about the same rate of speed and Mrs. Archibald slowed down and brought her car to a stop on the opposite side of the crossing just prior to the impact. Therefore, at the time plaintiff dimmed his lights Mrs. Archibald was at least 1500 feet or more beyond the crossing—or in other words, there was something in excess of 3000 feet separating the two automobiles—and Mr. Hickman testified that the lights of Mrs. Archibald’s car were not extra bright (Tr. 282).

The statute above quoted, Section 57-7-197, requires the operator of a motor vehicle to “use a distribution of light, or composite beam, directed high enough and of sufficient intensity to reveal persons and vehicles at a safe distance

in advance of the vehicle * * *” The only exception authorizes and requires the driver to use the low beam or dimmer when within 500 feet of an oncoming vehicle. Had the plaintiff been maintaining a proper lookout ahead instead of continuing at his fast rate of speed while observing in the rear view mirror to see if the officer was following him, and had he used the high beam or bright lights on his car inasmuch as he continued at the high rate of speed, he would have been able to see anything on the road ahead of him for “the full width of the road from fence to fence” (Tr. 294), and we must assume in absence of evidence to the contrary that his lights on such high beam would have revealed persons or vehicles at least 350 feet ahead of him as required by Section 57-7-196.

Under these circumstances it is interesting to note what a perusal of the pictures in evidence will show as to the view, and what the map, defendant’s Exhibit 1, will show. Had the plaintiff used the high beam or bright lights as he should have done, continuing at the rate of speed he was going, he would have been able to see the defendant’s train from the moment it started across the canal bridge 60 feet from the center of the pavement, assuming of course that he was close enough so that his bright lights would show far enough ahead. Clearly he could have done so at any time after he was within 350 feet. The freight train started from a complete stop at such point of the bridge, and in traveling the 60 feet plus until it got over the center of the highway, it did not move over two miles an hour. During that same time the plaintiff’s automobile was traveling approximately 50 miles an hour on his own testimony, or 25 times as fast

as the train. At two miles an hour the train would go approximately three feet per second and it would thus take it 20 seconds to move the 60 feet to the center of the roadway. The plaintiff at 50 miles an hour would move 73.33 feet per second and thus in 20 seconds would go approximately 1467 feet, or considerably in excess of a quarter of a mile. Of course we would not expect the plaintiff to see the defendant's train as it started over this canal bridge and approached the highway when he was a quarter of a mile away, but at some point after the time the defendant passed the highway patrolman's car — if he had been maintaining a proper lookout ahead and not spending too much time looking through his rear view mirror, and if he had had lights which would show or reveal persons or vehicles "at a safe distance in advance of the vehicle" he was driving—he could not have avoided seeing the defendant's train in time to bring his vehicle to a stop, disregarding any question of flagman or signals from any member of the train crew.

Approaching the question from another view, the evidence shows that the plaintiff's car traveled almost in a direct line in the center of his lane of traffic. (See pictures, Exhibits C and D.) By Exhibit D it is shown that the rear wheels skidded slightly toward the side of the road, the skid marks showing that those wheels did not come as close to the track as the front wheels, which proceeded in a straight line. The plaintiff's lane of travel or half of the pavement was 11 feet in width, and some high point on the front of his car—apparently the radiator ornament—struck the floor sill and side of the beet car. This point of impact was eight feet from the end of the beet car (Tr. 337). Therefore, in order for

plaintiff's automobile to strike the beet car at such point, the front or end of the beet car, from a standpoint of physical fact, had to be some two or three feet over the center line of the pavement. This is further confirmed by the fact that by measurement it was determined that the beet car traveled just 10 feet after the impact and when it came to rest was some little distance over the north or northwesterly half of the pavement (Tr. 203). That north half of the pavement being 11 feet wide and the beet car extending some distance beyond and having traveled only 10 feet from the point of impact, it is a demonstrated physical fact that the front end of such beet car was at least two feet or more over and to the northwest of the center line of the highway at the moment of impact.

It was determined by the highway patrolman from the damage done and other evidence at the scene of the accident that the speed of the plaintiff's car at the moment of impact was still 30 miles an hour (Tr. 165). Mrs. Archibald estimated that such speed at the moment of impact was at least 40 miles an hour (Tr. 210). The plaintiff's brother, the morning after the accident, stepped off the distance of the skid marks, and then a month or so later actually measured the skid marks, and at such time, a month later, by actual measurement he measured the skid marks at 83 feet, and he stated, "the skid marks are still visible today" (Tr. 148). On the night of the accident the highway patrolman measured these skid marks and found that the longest one was 85 feet (Tr. 163), and that all four of the wheels had skidded and left visible marks upon the pavement.

The plaintiff produced an engineer, Professor Harold S. Carter, and upon putting a hypothetical question to him asked what rate of speed a car would have been going at the beginning of an 83-foot skid mark assuming that the speed of the car at the end of the 83-foot skid mark was 30 miles an hour. Professor Carter stated that assuming the speed was 30 miles at the moment of impact after skidding for 83 feet, the speed at the moment of inception of the skid would have been 50 miles an hour (Tr. 248). He further stated that if the plaintiff's car was going 40 miles an hour at the moment of the impact, then the speed at the inception of the skid would have been 57½ miles an hour (Tr. 250). It is rather interesting to note that when it was called to Professor Carter's attention that the skid marks were 85 feet instead of 83 feet, and the speed at the moment of impact was 30 miles per hour, he still tried to assist plaintiff in trying to say that it would not make much difference but finally admitted that 85 feet of skid marks would indicate a speed of 51 miles per hour. His answer was: "That two feet does not make much difference. The 85 feet would represent 51 miles an hour, to be specific" (Tr. 256).

Considering the testimony of Mrs. Archibald, who estimated the speed at the time of the impact to be 40 miles an hour, and that of head brakeman Turley, who estimated the speed of plaintiff's car as it came along the highway to be 60 miles an hour, plus this admission of Professor Carter that 85 feet of skid marks would indicate at least 51 miles an hour, there was ample evidence from which the jury could conclude that plaintiff was exceeding the speed limit of 50 miles an hour.

For the purpose of further argument let us admit that plaintiff's speed at the moment of the inception of the skid was 50 miles an hour and at the moment of impact 30 miles an hour. Plaintiff would have been traveling an average speed of 40 miles an hour over the last 85 feet, and approximately 50 miles an hour for some distance prior to the inception of the skidding of his car. At the moment of impact the defendant's freight car was some 12 to 14 feet from the southeasterly edge of the pavement, Mr. Squires testifying that it was at least six feet on the pavement when he yelled, Mr. Hickman saying it was half or more over his lane, and the measurement on the car indicating that the point of impact was at least eight feet back from the forward end. Assuming for purpose of argument that the front of the car was therefore 13 feet from the southeast edge of the pavement, we would then have the following situation: the freight car had traveled over this 13 feet of pavement, plus eight feet of shoulder, at the rate of two miles an hour; at two miles an hour or 2.9 feet per second it would take slightly in excess of seven seconds for the freight car to travel this 21 feet; at an average of 40 miles an hour, which is 58.67 feet per second, it would take plaintiff's automobile 1.44 seconds to go the 85 feet through which the car skidded, and in the remaining time out of the seven seconds or in the other 5.56 seconds when plaintiff's car was going 50 miles an hour, plaintiff's automobile would have traveled over 407 feet. Therefore, taking the evidence in the light most favorable to plaintiff rather than as we are required to on this appeal, most favorable to the view that would uphold the verdict, the plaintiff in his automobile traveled over 492

feet while the defendant's freight car was traveling the distance of 21 feet over the 8-foot shoulder and 13 feet of pavement to the point it had reached at the moment of impact. This disregards the additional distance of 40 feet traveled by the beet car from the canal bridge during which plaintiff should have seen the freight car approaching from the opposite side of the canal bridge had his lights shown from fence to fence as he said they would have done on high beam, the only difficulty being that plaintiff would have been so much farther down the highway that he would not have been close enough to see the freight car crossing the canal bridge no matter how far ahead his light may have shown. Nevertheless, while the freight car was traveling the 21 feet over the shoulder and pavement to the point of impact, plaintiff's automobile traveled over 492 feet. Plaintiff's witness Professor Carter in response to a question as to the distance necessary to bring an automobile to a stop from 50 miles an hour answered that it would take 128 feet to bring the automobile to a stop without skidding the wheels (Tr. 248). The testimony also shows from Mr. Hickman himself that an automobile would travel 55 feet during the reaction time or thinking time necessary before one can apply the brakes after seeing an object ahead when traveling at 50 miles an hour (Tr. 288). Thus at 50 miles an hour, if plaintiff had seen the train, he could have reacted and brought his automobile to a stop in 183 feet.

Assuming again the most favorable conclusion from the record in favor of plaintiff, that during the last 85 feet he traveled an average of 40 miles an hour and approximately 50 miles an hour prior to that time, plaintiff would cover

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